

Connective Tissue-Related Interstitial Lung Disease Primer



Funding for this project was provided by Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Authors

Joshua Solomon, MD

Associate Professor of Medicine, Autoimmune Lung Center and Interstitial Lung Disease Program, National Jewish Health Denver, Colorado 80206, USA

Flavia V. Castelino, MD

Assistant Professor of Medicine, Division of Rheumatology, Massachusetts General Hospital Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA 02114

Co-editors

Maria Padilla, MD

Professor of Medicine, Director, Advanced Lung Disease Program, Icahn School of Meidcine at Mount Sinai, NY, USA

Martin Kolb, MD PhD

Director, Division of Respirology Jack Gauldie Boehringer Ingelheim Chair in Interstitial Lung Disease Professor, Department of Medicine, McMaster University Firestone Institute for Respiratory Health Hamilton, ON, Canada L8N 4A6

Aditi Mathur, MD

Assistant Professor of Medicine, Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care, Mount Sinai - National Jewish Respiratory Institute, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY 10029

Jesse Roman, MD Ludwig Kind Professor of Medicine CEO, Jane & Leonard Korman Respiratory Institute, Division Director and Lead of Respiratory Service Line, Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Table of contents

List of figures and tables	2
List of abbreviations and acronyms	3
ILD in established CTD	4
Introduction	4
Definition	5
Background	5
Rheumatoid arthritis (RA)	6
Systemic sclerosis (SSc)	6
Idiopathic inflammatory myopathies (IIMs)	7
Other CTDs	7
Incidence/prevalence of ILD in CTD	9
Risk factors for CTD-ILD	10
Clinical presentation of CTDs	11
Evaluation of CTD	12
Diagnosis and workup of ILD	14
Monitoring for disease progression	18
Treatment	19
Adjunctive therapies	22
Prognosis	23
Interstitial pneumonia with autoimmune features (IPAF)	25
Summary	25
References	26

List of figures and tables

Figures

Figure 1: HRCT pattern of NSIP in RA

- Figure 2: HRCT pattern of UIP in RA
- Figure 3: HRCT pattern of NSIP and OP in IIM

Figure 4: Histopathological pattern of UIP with lymphoid follicles in RA-UIP

Figure 5: Histopathological pattern of NSIP with OP in IIM

Tables

- **Table 1:** Features of the most common connective tissue-associated interstitial lung diseases
- **Table 2:** Myositis-specific autoantibodies and clinical features of disease
- Table 3: Medications for CTD-ILD

List of abbreviations and acronyms

ADM: Amyopathic dermatomyositis AB: Antibody **ANA:** Antinuclear antibody **ASS:** Antisynthetase syndrome **CPK:** Creatine phosphokinase **CT:** Computed tomography **CTD:** Connective tissue disease CTD-ILD: Connective tissue diseaseassociated interstitial lung disease **CYC:** Cyclophosphamide **DAD:** Diffuse alveolar damage dcSSc: Diffuse cutaneous systemic sclerosis **DLCO:** Diffusion capacity of lung for carbon monoxide **DM:** Dermatomyositis FEV1: Forced expiratory volume in 1 second FGF-R: Fibroblast growth factor receptor FVC: Forced vital capacity **GERD:** Gastroesophageal reflux **HRCT:** High resolution computed tomography **IIMs:** Idiopathic inflammatory myopathies IV: Intravenous **ILD:** Interstitial lung disease **IPAF:** Interstitial pneumonia with autoimmune features **IPF:** Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis **IcSSc:** Limited cutaneous systemic sclerosis

JDM: Juvenile dermatomyositis **MCTD:** Mixed connective tissue disease MDA5: Melanocyte differentiationassociated gene 5 MIP/MEP: Maximal inspiratory and expiratory pressures **MMF:** Mycophenolate mofetil MUC5B: Mucin 5B **NSIP:** Non-specific interstitial pneumonia **OP:** Organizing pneumonia **PDGF-R:** Platelet-derived growth factor receptor **PFT:** Pulmonary function test **PH:** Pulmonary hypertension PM: Polymyositis **RA:** Rheumatoid arthritis **RF:** Rheumatoid factor RNA: Ribonucleic acid **RNP:** Ribonuclear protein **RTX:** Rituximab **RVSP:** Right ventricular systolic pressure **SLE:** Systemic lupus erythematosus SS: Sjögren's syndrome **SSc:** Systemic sclerosis **TGF-** β : Transforming growth factor - beta **TNF:** Tumor necrosis factor **UIP:** Usual interstitial pneumonia **US:** United States **VEGF-R:** Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor

ILD in Established CTD

Introduction

- Interstitial lung disease (ILD) is a common manifestation of connective tissue diseases (CTDs).
- ILD can be seen in all CTDs but most commonly in rheumatoid arthritis (RA), systemic sclerosis (SSc), and idiopathic inflammatory myopathy (IIM).
- This primer will focus on the general features of CTD-ILDs along with distinct features noted in RA, SSc, and IIM-associated ILD.

Definition

- CTD-ILD is defined as evidence of ILD demonstrated by CT (i.e., some combination of reticulation, ground-glass opacities, traction bronchiectasis, honeycombing, and/or cysts) in the setting of an established CTD.
- Other causes of parenchymal lung disease in CTD need to be ruled out:
 - > Infection
 - > Drug-induced lung disease
 - > Malignancy
 - > Idiopathic and other interstitial lung diseases

Background

 Though all CTDs have the risk of ILD, it is more common in RA, SSc and IIM. (Table 1)

interstitianting useases					
	RA-ILD	SSc-ILD	IIM-ILD		
Common HRCT and pathologic pattern	UIP	NSIP	NSIP with OP		
Pathologic findings	UIP pattern with lymphoid aggregates and germinal centers	Bland pauci-cellular fibrosis uniformly throughout interstitium, with preservation of alveolar architecture	Typical NSIP		
Risk factors	Smoking High-titer CCP Male sex	Anti-topoisomerase ab Black race Higher skin score	Anti-Jo1 Anti-PL-7 Anti-PL-12 Black race		
Prevalence	19-67%	Up to 90%	Up to 75%		
Outcome	5-year survival 36% in UIP and 94% in NSIP	5-year survival 85%	5-year survival 60 to 80%		

Table 1: Features of the most common connective tissue disease-associated interstitial lung diseases

Rheumatoid arthritis

- RA is a systemic inflammatory disease with small joint inflammation predominantly involving the wrists, hands, and feet.
- All organ systems can be involved.
- Some risk factors for RA include genetics, family history, middle age, female sex, lower socioeconomic status and smoking.
- It is the most common CTD, seen in 0.5-1% of the United States (US) population, with a global prevalence of 0.24% (or 18 million people).
- RA is among the top 50 contributors to global disability and leads to an estimated \$19.3 billion in annual healthcare expense in the US with a mean total 5-year cost of \$173,000 per patient.
- ILD is one of the many extra-articular manifestations in RA and a leading cause of death and disability.
- ILD in RA has risk factors in common with RA (i.e. smoking) and distinct risk factors (e.g. male sex).

Systemic sclerosis

- SSc is a heterogeneous autoimmune disease characterized by immune dysregulation, vasculopathy, and progressive fibrosis with multi-organ involvement. The most common organ systems involved include the skin, lungs, gastrointestinal tract, and musculoskeletal system.
- Patients with SSc are classified as having limited cutaneous SSc (lcSSc) or diffuse cutaneous SSc (dcSSc) based on the extent of skin involvement.
- Patients with IcSSc develop skin involvement of the face and skin distal to the elbows and knees, and dcSSc patients have more extensive skin involvement including the trunk and extremities.
- ILD is the leading cause of death in SSc. Patients with SSc-ILD have a varied progression with some patients having a slow indolent course and others developing a rapid progression of symptoms.

Idiopathic inflammatory myopathies

- The IIMs encompass a group of autoimmune disorders characterized by a combination of muscle weakness, rash, and autoantibodies (designated myositis-specific antibodies, Table 2). ILD is often a common finding and can occur prior to or after diagnosis.
- Inflammation is central to the three main forms of myositis that are associated with ILD.
 - > Dermatomyositis (DM) has a characteristic rash and muscle weakness, with pathogenesis felt to be humorally mediated. An entity called amyopathic dermatomyositis (ADM) is found in a subset of DM patients and characterized by cutaneous manifestations of classic DM with no clinical evidence of muscle weakness or muscle enzyme abnormalities. (1)
 - > Polymyositis (PM) is characterized by muscle weakness without the rash that is noted in DM, and pathogenesis is thought to be cell-mediated.
 - > Antisynthetase syndrome (ASS) is characterized by antibodies directed against aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase along with clinical features that include ILD, myositis, Raynaud's phenomenon, fevers, mechanic's hands, and arthritis.

Other CTDs

- ILD also occurs in patients with other CTDs including Sjögren's syndrome, systemic lupus erythematosus, and mixed connective tissue disease.
 - > Sjögren's syndrome is characterized by the development of sicca symptoms including xerostomia and keratoconjunctivitis sicca, circulating antibodies to Ro (SS-A) and La (SS-B), lymphocytic infiltration, and damage to exocrine glands. There is a panel of antibodies being developed (against the parotid secretory protein, carbonic anhydrase 6, and salivary protein-1) to diagnose early SS when there is a high degree of suspicion and negative conventional markers. Subclinical pulmonary involvement is seen in up to 75% of patients and includes both airway disease and ILD.

- > SLE is a chronic autoimmune disease that can affect virtually any organ. Patients can present with mild clinical features ranging from arthralgias and skin involvement to more severe renal, cardiac, hematologic, or central nervous system involvement. Pulmonary manifestations include pleuritis, ILD, pulmonary hypertension, and alveolar hemorrhage. ILD is less common in SLE than other CTDs.
- > MCTD is an overlap syndrome associated with anti-U1 RNP antibodies that incorporates various clinical features of SLE, SSc and IIM. ILD occurs in about 50 to 66 % of patients with MCTD. Risk factors for the development of ILD in MCTD include Raynaud's phenomena and symptoms of dysphagia, and arthritis.

Table 2: Myositis specific autoantibodies and clinical features of disease

Autoantibody	Target antigen	Clinical features
Jo-1, PL-7, PL-12, EJ, OJ, KS, YRS (HA), Zo	Aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase	Anti-synthetase syndrome with high incidence of ILD
SRP	Signal recognition particle	Neuromuscular weakness, cardiac involvement, refractory to treatment
Mi-2	Helicase protein	Mild disease, typical skin lesions and mild myositis, responsive to treatment
TIF1-y (anti p155/140)	TIF gamma/alpha	Cancer associated myositis (CAM)
SAE	Small ubiquitin like modifier 1 activating enzyme	Dermatomyositis features
MDA5 (CADM -140)	Melanoma differentiation- associated gene 5	Rapidly progressive ILD with severe skin manifestations in Japanese population, less severe disease in Caucasian population
NXP-2	Transcriptional regulation and activation of p53	Predominantly Juvenile dermatomyositis, severe muscle disease, calcinosis, and skin disease
HMGCR	3-hyroxy-3-methylglutaryl- coenzyme A reductase	Associated with statin use in adults, necrotizing myopathy

Incidence/prevalence of ILD in CTD

- RA: Lung involvement (i.e. parenchymal, pleural, and airway) is seen in 60 to 80% of patients, though a significant number of these cases are either subclinical (no associated symptoms) or not clinically significant (not contributing to death or disability) (2).
 - > ILD prevalence in unselected subjects ranges from 19 to 67% depending on the modality of diagnosis. The 3-year cumulative incidence is 6.8% and the lifetime risk is 7.7%.
 - > Lung involvement may pre-date the joint disease in up to 20% of subjects.
 - > Though the incidence appears stable, the prevalence and death from ILD among decedents with RA are on the rise.
- SSc: The overall incidence globally ranges from 8 to 56 new cases per million persons per year, and the prevalence rates are between 38 and 341 cases per million persons.
 - > ILD is generally thought to be more prevalent in patients with diffuse SSc than with limited SSc though both subsets can develop ILD.
- IIMs: The incidence is 1-19 cases per million persons per year, and prevalence is approximately 1 per 100,000. The prevalence of ILD in this population varies based on criteria (HRCT vs. physiologic screening) and ranges from 9-78%. In 10-30% of patients, ILD can be the first manifestation and precede the diagnosis of autoimmune disease by several years (3).

Risk factors for CTD-ILD

- Potential risk factors differ depending on the underlying CTD.
 - > RA
 - > Though there are several reported risk factors for RA-ILD, there is strong support for advanced age, smoking, male sex, and RA disease score (2).
 - > There is weaker support for anti-cyclic citrullinated protein levels, methotrexate use, anti-tumor necrosis factor (TNF) agents, and genetics.
 - The strongest genetic risk factor for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF),
 a gain-of-function variant in the promotor region of a gene encoding mucin
 5b (MUC5B), was found in up to 32% of patients with RA-ILD (4).
 - > SSc
 - > Both patients with limited or diffuse SSc can develop ILD.
 - > The auto-antibody profile is important in predicting SSc-ILD.
 - ScI-70 is a marker associated with increased risk for ILD compared to centromere antibody pattern (5).
 - > Patients with a nucleolar pattern antinuclear antibody (ANA) are also at higher risk for ILD.
 - > The nucleolar pattern ANAs are often anti-Th/To and U3-ribonuclear protein (RNP) antibodies and these have been associated with severe ILD (6).
 - > Other risk factors include a higher modified Rodnan skin score, Black race, elevated creatine phosphokinase (CPK) levels, and cardiac involvement.
 - > IIMs
 - > There is growing evidence of genetic associations in the development of ILD in patients with IIMs. For example, there is a strong association with HLA-DRB1*03:01 and HLA-B*08:01.
 - > IIMs are at least twice as common in females than males.
 - > The risk of ILD is noted to be higher in patients of Black race.

> Patients of East Asian race are noted to have a higher risk of rapidly progressive ILD unresponsive to treatment and are often found to have the MDA-5 autoantibody (3).

Clinical presentation of CTDs

- All of the CTDs have defined diagnostic criteria proposed and updated by the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) and the European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR).
- Clinical findings in RA
 - > The typical presentation of RA is a gradual onset of polyarticular synovitis manifested by pain, stiffness (usually in the morning), and swelling.
 - > Rarely patients can have an acute onset with monoarticular symptoms, intermittent symptoms, or migratory symptoms.
 - > Systemic symptoms (fevers, weight loss, myalgias, fatigue) are seen in less than half of patients.
- Clinical findings in SSc
 - > SSc is traditionally classified based on the extent of skin involvement into limited and diffuse forms of the disease.
 - > Skin involvement is for the most part a universal feature of the disease. Early symptoms including edema, puffy hands, or pruritis.
 - > Only a small percentage of patients with SSc have no skin involvement, termed SSc sine scleroderma.
 - > Raynaud's phenomenon is present in a majority of patients with SSc and typically precedes the disease onset by years. Nailfold capillaroscopy can help evaluate patients for SSc (capillary changes include dilated and giant capillaries, hemorrhages, disorganized vascular arrays, ramified/bushy capillaries, and capillary dropout).
 - > Patients often have significant fatigue and also discomfort from skin involvement, Raynaud's, and digital ulcers.

- > Loss of strength is often noted in the upper or lower proximal limbs, shoulder girdle, and anterior neck muscles. Sometimes, posterior pharyngeal muscles are involved. Symptoms include difficulty running, getting up from a seated position, climbing stairs, chewing, swallowing, and dysphonia.
- Skin findings can include a violaceous rash over the eyes, face, chest, shoulders, and thighs. Extensor surface papules most often noted over the metacarpophalangeal (MCP) and proximal interphalangeal (PIP) joints are termed Gottron's papules and are unique to the myositis family. Mechanic's hands, which appear as dry cracking or fissuring skin along the sides of the fingers are considered pathognomonic for IIMs.
- > ADM can present with a rash typical for DM with no objective weakness.
- ILD should be on the differential diagnosis list for any suspected or confirmed CTD patient with any of the following signs and symptoms:
 - > Unexplained breathlessness
 - > Dry persistent cough
 - > Crackles on exam
 - > Hypoxemia at rest or with activity
 - > Unexplained reduction in exercise capacity
 - Restriction on screening pulmonary function tests (PFTs) and/or unexplained decrease in diffusing capacity for carbon monoxide (DLCO)

Evaluation of CTD

- Lab studies
 - > Autoantibodies include ANA, as well as disease specific antibodies.
 - > RA: rheumatoid factor (RF) and anti-cyclic citrullinated peptides (anti-CCP antibodies)

- > SSc: ScI-70, centromere and RNA polymerase antibodies
- > IIM: myositis-specific (Table 2) and myositis-associated antibodies. Certain antibodies such as Jo-1, PL-7, and PL-12 are strongly associated with the development of ILD (8). Anti MDA-5 antibody may be found in amyopathic dermatomyositis patients and strongly correlates with the development of rapidly progressive ILD (9).
- > Sjogren's syndrome: SS-A and SS-B antibodies. Antibodies to parotid secretory protein, carbonic anhydrase 6, and salivary protein-1 in early disease.
- > MCTD: RNP
- Echocardiogram
 - > Elevated right ventricular systolic pressure (RVSP) indicative of pulmonary hypertension (PH) may be noted, but right heart catheterization is required for a definitive diagnosis.
 - > Cardiomyopathy or relaxation abnormalities may be noted.
 - > Screening ECHO should be considered in all patients with CTD-ILD.
- Esophagram
 - > An esophagram may reveal abnormal peristalsis, dysmotility, and gastroesophageal reflux (GERD).
- Skin & muscle biopsy
 - > Is useful in the diagnosis of IIMs if clinical and serologic findings are lacking.

Diagnosis and workup of ILD

 A multidisciplinary team discussion is important in reconciling clinical, lab, and imaging data, as well as providing a means to coordinate the views of pulmonologists and rheumatologists in formulating diagnostic and treatment strategies (7).

Pulmonary function tests (PFTs)

- > PFTs may be normal in early disease.
- > A restrictive pattern with reduced forced vital capacity (FVC) and normal or high forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV1)/FVC is often seen.
- > DLCO may be reduced due to pulmonary vascular disease.
- > Airflow obstruction suggested by a FEV1/FVC of < 0.70 can be seen with airway involvement, most common in RA and Sjögren's syndrome.
- > Decreased maximal inspiratory and expiratory pressures (MIP/MEPs) may be noted in patients with IIM and respiratory muscle involvement.
- High-resolution computed tomography (HRCT)
 - > The most common HRCT patterns in patients with CTD-ILD are nonspecific interstitial pneumonia (NSIP) (Figure 1) and usual interstitial pneumonia (UIP) (Figure 2), with the isolated organizing pneumonia (OP) pattern seen less frequently.
 - > In RA only, the most common radiographic pattern seen is UIP, with NSIP seen less commonly and OP pattern is seen rarely.
 - > The most common pattern seen in SSc is NSIP. UIP is seen in up to 40% of cases of SSc.
 - > ILD associated with IIMs is often characterized by an overlapping pattern of NSIP and OP (Figure 3).
 - > Three radiographic findings have been identified that suggest an ILD secondary to CTD (10):
 - Anterior upper lobe sign, which is the concentration of fibrosis in the anterior upper lobes with relative sparing of the rest of the upper lobe.
 The positive likelihood ratio of CTD-ILD in patients with this finding is 1.99.
 - Exuberant honeycombing, which is extensive honeycombing comprising greater than 70% of the fibrotic areas of the lungs. The positive likelihood ratio of CTD-ILD with this finding is 3.69.
 - > Straight edge sign, which is the isolation of fibrosis to the lung bases without extension along the lateral margins of the lung. The positive likelihood ratio of CTD-ILD is 4.22.







Figure 4: Lymphoid follicle on surgical lung biopsy from a patient with CTD-ILD



- Lung pathology
 - > NSIP This is characterized by temporally and geographically homogeneous infiltration of the interstitium by inflammatory cells with varying degrees of fibrosis. Patients may have more inflammation ("cellular NSIP"), more fibrosis ("fibrotic NSIP"), or a combination of both ("mixed NSIP").
 - > UIP In comparison to the UIP pattern seen in IPF, UIP in CTD has more lymphoid aggregates and germinal centers with fewer fibroblast foci (Figure 4) (11).
 - > OP This is defined by the presence of inflammatory cells, fibroblasts, and connective tissue in the alveoli and distal airspaces. It is often found in conjunction with NSIP in patients with ILD associated with IIMs (Figure 5).
 - > Diffuse alveolar damage (DAD) This is the predominant finding in acute exacerbations of ILD and is associated with a poor prognosis. It is characterized by an acute phase with edema and hyaline membrane formation, and an organizing phase with alveolar septal fibrosis and type II pneumocyte hyperplasia.



17

- All patients with lung disease should have indices of oxygenation checked at rest, with activity, and overnight.
- As CTDs are systemic diseases, other systems can be involved that can affect respiratory symptoms or PFTs and should be investigated.
 - > PH, most commonly seen in the IcSSc variant of SSc, can cause dyspnea, hypoxemia, decreased exercise tolerance, and a reduction in DLCO out of proportion to reduction in lung volume.
 - > Muscle weakness, most commonly associated with the myositisspectrum of disease, can lead to dyspnea, reduced exercise tolerance, and a reduction in lung volumes out or proportion to the degree of ILD. Muscle weakness can be evaluated with MIP/MEP and looking at the maximal voluntary ventilation.
 - > Cardiac involvement, in the form of obstructive coronary disease or direct pericardial or myocardial involvement, can be seen in many of the CTDs and can lead to dyspnea out of proportion to the degree of lung disease.

Monitoring for disease progression

- During the initial evaluation of patients with CTD-ILD, short term PFTs (within 3 months) and HRCT (within 6 months) should be considered to clarify the rate of progression.
- For the first 1 to 2 years of mild CTD-ILD disease, PFT's should be done every 6 months in these patients.
- More frequent PFTs, every 3-6 months should be done for more moderatesevere ILD at baseline or progressive disease.
- Non-contrast HRCT is often performed yearly during the first 3 years of diagnosis to identify patients who may have progressive disease.
- An echocardiogram is often used every 1-2 years to assess RVSP and assess cardiac function.

Treatment

- All treatment decisions should be made in close collaboration with a rheumatologist.
- As there are medications that can treat both ILD and CTD, an effort should be made to find one medication that is effective for both diseases.
- In general, medication therapy involves either immunosuppressive and/ or anti-fibrotic therapy and depends on the subtype of ILD (i.e. the more inflammatory NSIP and OP or the more fibrotic UIP).
- An important concept to remember is that control of the CTD does not correlate to control of the lung disease and the ILD needs to be followed regardless of the activity level of the CTD.
- Outside of SSc-ILD, treatment of CTD-ILD is severely hindered by a lack of randomized controlled trials.
- Nintedanib, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor shown effective in IPF, has been approved, based on the results of the INBUILD Trial, for all patients with progressive fibrosing ILD, defined as a fibrosing ILD (including CTD-ILD) with one of the following criteria in the prior 24 months (12):
 - > A relative decline in the FVC of 10% of the predicted value or
 - > A relative decline in FVC of 5 to <10% and either worsening in respiratory symptoms or increase in the extent of fibrosis on HRCT or
 - Worsening in respiratory symptoms and increase in the extent of fibrosis on HRCT
- RA-ILD
 - > Treatment regimens are limited to case reports and case series without a dedicated phase 3 trial.
 - > The only Food and Drug Administration-approved therapy is nintedanib which is approved for progressive fibrotic ILD regardless of etiology.
 - > There are limited reports of successful treatment with methotrexate, azathioprine, cyclosporine, mycophenolate, TNF-alpha inhibitors, and rituximab.

- SSc-ILD
 - Traditional immunosuppressive therapy, mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) or cyclophosphamide (CYC) have been used as initial treatment for SSc-ILD. (Table 3)
 - > MMF has become the treatment of choice given its superior side effect profile over CYC. Mycophenolic acid is considered equal to MMF in clinical practice.
 - > Azathioprine is an option, but has fallen out of favor for the treatment of SSc-ILD given mixed results.
 - > The use of systemic steroids in the treatment of SSc-ILD is debated.
 - > Data on the use of high dose steroids in SSc-ILD is limited.
 - > Steroids need to be weighed with the risk of renal crisis as this is typically associated with doses of prednisone > 15mg daily.
 - > Nintedanib, an oral tyrosine kinase inhibitor was recently approved for the treatment of SSc-ILD based on the results of the SENSCIS Trial (13).
 - > Annual rate of decline in FVC was lower in nintedanib treated patients by 44% compared to placebo.
 - > The secondary endpoint of change in modified Rodnan skin score was not met.
 - > The most common adverse event was diarrhea.
 - > Tocilizumab is an anti-IL-6 inhibitor that has been recently approved for the treatment of SSc-ILD.
- IIM-ILDs
 - > There are no large randomized controlled trials of treatment in myositisassociated ILD, but a multitude of immunosuppressants in conjunction with steroids have been successfully used (Table 3)

Medication	Dose	Mechanism of action	Disease	References
Steroids	Acute disease: Solu Medrol 500- 1000 mg/day IV X 3 days Subacute disease: prednisone 1mg/ kg/day up to 60mg	Inhibits circulating leukocytes and synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines	RA, IIMs, SS *not advisable in pts with SSc given risk of renal crisis, consider ACE/ARB inhibitors and use Pred < 15/ daily	
Mycophenolate mofetil	2000-3000mg/ daily given in divided doses twice daily	Reduces T and B cell proliferation by inactivation of inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase	RA, SSc, IIMs, SS	(18) Case series
Mycophenolic acid	720 to 1080mg bd			
Azathioprine	2-3 mg/kg/daily	Purine analog that reduces T and B cell proliferation	RA, SSc, IIMs	Case series
Tacrolimus	1-3 mg/daily	Calcineurin inhibitor, inhibitor of T cell proliferation and activation	llMs	Case series
Cyclophosphamide	IV monthly: 750mg/m2 body mass index X 6 months OR oral: 1.5 – 2.5 mg/ kg/day	Alkylating agent that targets T cells	RA, SSc, IIMs	(18), (19) Case series
Rituximab	1000mg IV 0, 2 weeks then q6 months	Monoclonal antibody against CD20	RA, SSc, IIMs	Case series
Nintedanib	150 mg PO twice daily	Tyrosine kinase inhibitor of FGF-R, PDGF-R and VEGF-R	RA, SSc, IIMs	SENSCIS (13) INBUILD (12)

Adjunctive therapies

Oxygen therapy

> Oxygen should be prescribed based on resting, exercise, and nocturnal saturations to ensure that the patient maintains oxygen saturations >88%.

GERD treatment

- > Esophageal dysfunction leading to reflux and aspiration may exacerbate SSc-ILD.
- > Typically, all patients with SSc-ILD are treated with high doses of proton pump inhibitors.
- Pulmonary rehabilitation
 - > Pulmonary rehabilitation can improve exercise performance, symptoms, and quality of life.
- Vaccines
 - > Influenza and pneumococcal vaccines should be provided to reduce the risk of infections.
 - > Consider inactivated herpes zoster vaccine in patients initiating prolonged immunosuppression.
- Supportive/palliative care
 - > Consider as part of patient care throughout the course of the disease, not only as the patient nears the end of their life.
- Lung transplant
 - > Transplant should be considered in all patients with disease that progresses despite of therapy.
 - > In general, outcomes with transplant in CTD-ILD are similar to outcomes with other ILDs.
 - > Certain features of the CTD can affect a patient's likelihood of qualifying for a transplant.

> Historically, lung transplantation in SSc has been difficult given esophageal dysmotility and risk for recurrent aspiration. However, studies evaluating outcomes after lung transplant in SSc-ILD show a similar 1- and 5-year survival rates compared to other ILDs.

Prognosis

- In general, the prognosis of CTD-ILD is more favorable than that of IPF, the most common of the ILDs (14).
- Prognosis is influenced by factors such as ILD subtype, age, and type of CTD.
- RA
 - > The presence of ILD increases mortality by 2 to 10-fold and patients with RA-ILD have a median survival of 6.6 to 7.8 years and a 35% to 40% 5-year mortality.
 - > Older studies found that RA with UIP had survival rates similar to that of IPF (median survival of 3.2 to 5.5 years) though more recent studies have found a better survival in this subtype (7.9 to 10.4 years).
 - > Predictors of mortality include subtype of ILD on HRCT (with UIP portending a worse outcome), older age, male sex, lower DLCO, and the presence of fibrosis on pathology.
 - Changes over time in physiology predict outcome, with a 10% decline in FVC at any point in follow-up leading to a more than doubling in a patient's mortality (15).
 - Progression is common 50% with early asymptomatic ILD and 60% with UIP progress over 1.5 years.
 - > Acute exacerbations are more common in RA-ILD compared to the other CTD-ILDs (3 to 11% yearly) and are a significant contributor to death in RA-ILD.

SSc

- > The presence of ILD in a patient with SSc predicts increased mortality.
- > Older age, lower FVC, and extent of ILD on HRCT are associated with increased mortality.
- > An algorithm to assess the extent of fibrosis on HRCT to characterize patients as extensive or limited lung involvement has been proposed (16).
 - > Patients with >20% involvement on HRCT or lesser degrees of fibrosis with a decline in FVC<70% are characterized as extensive disease and have worse survival.

IIMs

- > Prognostic factors in myositis-associated ILD include the type of autoantibody (Table 2), radiographic pattern of ILD, and in some cases, race. There is also a 5 to 7-fold increase in the risk of malignancy associated with a diagnosis of DM, and less so with PM. Age and sex appropriate cancer screening is recommended, and more comprehensive testing can be pursued if suspicion of malignancy remains high.
- > Patients with NSIP and/or OP generally have a good response to treatment.
- > Those with Jo-1 and Ro-52 positivity tend to have more severe ILD compared to those with Jo-1 positivity alone.
- > Patients with rapidly progressive disease or those with a 10% decline in FVC or DLCO during a 6 month follow up despite treatment should be referred to a lung transplant center for evaluation.

Interstitial pneumonia with autoimmune features (IPAF)

- A sizable portion of ILD patients present with clinical, serologic and radiographic features suggesting CTD-ILD but do not meet established diagnostic criteria for CTD-ILD.
- IPAF is an American Thoracic Society / European Respiratory Society proposed research term for patients that fall into this category.
- The term allows for standardization of diagnosis so that these patients can be further studied.
- NSIP and UIP are the most common radiographic patterns.
- Treatment decisions are based on clinical evaluation as there are no randomized clinical trials of treatment in this population (17).

Summary & conclusions

- ILD is a significant cause of morbidity and mortality in patients with CTDs.
- The management of patients with CTD-ILDs should be individualized and involve close collaboration between rheumatologists and pulmonologists.
- Immunosuppression is the mainstay of therapy for CTD-ILDs with a prominent inflammatory component, while the anti-fibrotics play a role in progressive fibrotic ILD.

References

1. Ghazi E, Sontheimer RD, Werth VP. The importance of including amyopathic dermatomyositis in the idiopathic inflammatory myositis spectrum. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2013; 31: 128-134.

2. Demoruelle MK, Solomon JJ, Olson AL. The Epidemiology of Rheumatoid Arthritis-Associated Lung Disease. In: Fischer A, Lee JS, editors. Lung Disease in Rheumatoid Arthritis, 1 ed: Humana Press; 2018. p. 45-58.

3. Shappley C, Paik JJ, Saketkoo LA. Myositis-Related Interstitial Lung Diseases: Diagnostic Features, Treatment, and Complications. Curr Treatm Opt Rheumatol 2019; 5: 56-83.

4. Juge PA, Lee JS, Ebstein E, Furukawa H, Dobrinskikh E, Gazal S, Kannengiesser C, Ottaviani S, Oka S, Tohma S, Tsuchiya N, Rojas-Serrano J, Gonzalez-Perez MI, Mejia M, Buendia-Roldan I, Falfan-Valencia R, Ambrocio-Ortiz E, Manali E, Papiris SA, Karageorgas T, Boumpas D, Antoniou K, van Moorsel CHM, van der Vis J, de Man YA, Grutters JC, Wang Y, Borie R, Wemeau-Stervinou L, Wallaert B, Flipo RM, Nunes H, Valeyre D, Saidenberg-Kermanac'h N, Boissier MC, Marchand-Adam S, Frazier A, Richette P, Allanore Y, Sibilia J, Dromer C, Richez C, Schaeverbeke T, Liote H, Thabut G, Nathan N, Amselem S, Soubrier M, Cottin V, Clement A, Deane K, Walts AD, Fingerlin T, Fischer A, Ryu JH, Matteson EL, Niewold TB, Assayag D, Gross A, Wolters P, Schwarz MI, Holers M, Solomon J, Doyle T, Rosas IO, Blauwendraat C, Nalls MA, Debray MP, Boileau C, Crestani B, Schwartz DA, Dieude P. MUC5B Promoter Variant and Rheumatoid Arthritis with Interstitial Lung Disease. N Engl J Med 2018; 379:2209-2219.

5. Walker UA, Tyndall A, Czirjak L, Denton C, Farge-Bancel D, Kowal-Bielecka O, Muller-Ladner U, Bocelli-Tyndall C, Matucci-Cerinic M. Clinical risk assessment of organ manifestations in systemic sclerosis: a report from the EULAR Scleroderma Trials And Research group database. Ann Rheum Dis 2007; 66: 754-763.

6. Steen VD, Lucas M, Fertig N, Medsger TA, Jr. Pulmonary arterial hypertension and severe pulmonary fibrosis in systemic sclerosis patients with a nucleolar antibody. J Rheumatol 2007; 34: 2230-2235.

7. Wells A, Devaraj A, Renzoni EA, Denton CP. Multidisciplinary Evaluation in Patients with Lung Disease Associated with Connective Tissue Disease. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 2019; 40: 184-193.

8. Solomon J, Swigris JJ, Brown KK. Myositis-related interstitial lung disease and antisynthetase syndrome. J Bras Pneumol 2011; 37: 100-109.

9. Satoh M, Tanaka S, Ceribelli A, Calise SJ, Chan EK. A Comprehensive Overview on Myositis-Specific Antibodies: New and Old Biomarkers in Idiopathic Inflammatory Myopathy. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2017; 52: 1-19.

10. Chung JH, Cox CW, Montner SM, Adegunsoye A, Oldham JM, Husain AN, Vij R, Noth I, Lynch DA, Strek ME. CT Features of the Usual Interstitial Pneumonia Pattern: Differentiating Connective Tissue Disease-Associated Interstitial Lung Disease From Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2018; 210: 307-313.

11. Song JW, Do KH, Kim MY, Jang SJ, Colby TV, Kim DS. Pathologic and radiologic differences between idiopathic and collagen vascular disease-related usual interstitial pneumonia. Chest 2009; 136: 23-30.

12. Flaherty KR, Wells AU, Cottin V, Devaraj A, Walsh SLF, Inoue Y, Richeldi L, Kolb M, Tetzlaff K, Stowasser S, Coeck C, Clerisme-Beaty E, Rosenstock B, Quaresma M, Haeufel T, Goeldner RG, Schlenker-Herceg R, Brown KK, Investigators IT. Nintedanib in Progressive Fibrosing Interstitial Lung Diseases. N Engl J Med 2019; 381: 1718-1727.

13. Distler O, Highland KB, Gahlemann M, Azuma A, Fischer A, Mayes MD, Raghu G, Sauter W, Girard M, Alves M, Clerisme-Beaty E, Stowasser S, Tetzlaff K, Kuwana M, Maher TM, Investigators ST. Nintedanib for Systemic Sclerosis-Associated Interstitial Lung Disease. N Engl J Med 2019; 380: 2518-2528.

14. Park JH, Kim DS, Park IN, Jang SJ, Kitaichi M, Nicholson AG, Colby TV. Prognosis of fibrotic interstitial pneumonia: idiopathic versus collagen vascular disease-related subtypes. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2007; 175: 705-711.

15. Solomon JJ, Chung JH, Cosgrove GP, Demoruelle MK, Fernandez-Perez ER, Fischer A, Frankel SK, Hobbs SB, Huie TJ, Ketzer J, Mannina A, Olson AL, Russell G, Tsuchiya Y, Yunt ZX, Zelarney PT, Brown KK, Swigris JJ. Predictors of mortality in rheumatoid arthritis-associated interstitial lung disease. Eur Respir J 2016; 47: 588-596.

16. Goh NS, Desai SR, Veeraraghavan S, Hansell DM, Copley SJ, Maher TM, Corte TJ, Sander CR, Ratoff J, Devaraj A, Bozovic G, Denton CP, Black CM, du Bois RM, Wells AU. Interstitial lung disease in systemic sclerosis: a simple staging system. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2008; 177: 1248-1254.

17. Fischer A, Antoniou KM, Brown KK, Cadranel J, Corte TJ, du Bois RM, Lee JS, Leslie KO, Lynch DA, Matteson EL, Mosca M, Noth I, Richeldi L, Strek ME, Swigris JJ, Wells AU, West SG, Collard HR, Cottin V, CTD-ILD EATFoUFo. An official European Respiratory Society/American Thoracic Society research statement: interstitial pneumonia with autoimmune features. Eur Respir J 2015; 46: 976-987.

18. Tashkin DP, Roth MD, Clements PJ, Furst DE, Khanna D, Kleerup EC, Goldin J, Arriola E, Volkmann ER, Kafaja S, Silver R, Steen V, Strange C, Wise R, Wigley F, Mayes M, Riley DJ, Hussain S, Assassi S, Hsu VM, Patel B, Phillips K, Martinez F, Golden J, Connolly MK, Varga J, Dematte J, Hinchcliff ME, Fischer A, Swigris J, Meehan R, Theodore A, Simms R, Volkov S, Schraufnagel DE, Scholand MB, Frech T, Molitor JA, Highland K, Read CA, Fritzler MJ, Kim GHJ, Tseng CH, Elashoff RM, Sclerodema Lung Study III. Mycophenolate mofetil versus oral cyclophosphamide in scleroderma-related interstitial lung disease (SLS II): a randomised controlled, double-blind, parallel group trial. Lancet Respir Med 2016; 4: 708-719.

19. Tashkin DP, Elashoff R, Clements PJ, Goldin J, Roth MD, Furst DE, Arriola E, Silver R, Strange C, Bolster M, Seibold JR, Riley DJ, Hsu VM, Varga J, Schraufnagel DE, Theodore A, Simms R, Wise R, Wigley F, White B, Steen V, Read C, Mayes M, Parsley E, Mubarak K, Connolly MK, Golden J, Olman M, Fessler B, Rothfield N, Metersky M, Scleroderma Lung Study Research G. Cyclophosphamide versus placebo in scleroderma lung disease. N Engl J Med 2006; 354: 2655-2666.

American Thoracic Society

SC-US-69626

To improve health worldwide by advancing research, clinical care and public health in respiratory disease